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Staff Report   
City of Manhattan Beach 

  
 

TO:  Honorable Mayor Wilson and Members of the City Council 
 
THROUGH: Geoff Dolan, City Manager 
 
FROM: Richard Thompson, Director of Community Development 
  Eric Haaland, Associate Planner 
 
DATE: March 1, 2005 
 
SUBJECT: Status Report on the City Council’s 2004-2005 Work Plan Item Regarding Review 

of Downtown Parking Requirements 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council RECEIVE AND FILE this report resulting in further 
discussion of a downtown parking study in December 2006, approximately one year after the 
completion of the Metlox and Civic Center projects. 
 
FISCAL IMPLICATION: 
The recommended action would involve a significant amount of staff time and the use of a parking 
consultant, which is recommended to be initiated in December 2006. The cost of retaining a 
parking consultant would be approximately $20,000 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Various concerns and questions have arisen in recent years regarding the appropriateness of 
Downtown parking requirements. In response, the City Council included a review of Downtown 
commercial parking requirements within its annual work plan in order to have a better 
understanding of the current requirements. It is recommended that this information be reviewed, 
and utilized in the generation of a parking study after completion of the Metlox and Civic Center 
projects; which will provide over 664 public parking spaces to the Downtown parking supply. 
 
DISCUSSION: 
The commercial area known as Downtown Manhattan Beach is currently designated CD 
(Commercial Downtown) by the city’s zoning code. A prominent zoning aspect of this area is its 
reduced parking requirement relative to other commercial development within the city. Currently 
the typical (small) size Downtown sites have no requirement for parking until developed with 
more floor area than their own land area. This allowance recognizes the pedestrian oriented 
character of its early 20th Century development pattern prior to the automobile orientation of 
later decades.  
 
Increasing demand for Downtown parking was reflected by the City’s actions in the 1950’s and 
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60’s when parking districts were created to develop shared/public parking serving Downtown 
businesses. This resulted in the public parking lots located around Downtown’s perimeter, and 
preservation of its primarily continuous storefront pattern along Manhattan Beach Boulevard, 
Manhattan Avenue, and Highland Avenue. Based on the district’s provision of parking, 
downtown commercial development generally required no parking until 1984. That year the city 
determined that the larger and more intensively developed sites would be required to provide 
some parking. The requirements established then remain in effect now. 
 
 
1 to 1 Parking Exemption: 
As mentioned above, most Downtown properties are still exempt from parking until their building 
floor areas exceed the size of their property. Projects where development exceeds this 1 to 1 floor 
area ratio are considered by the city when new construction or use intensification is proposed. The 
most common of such projects is a conversion or expansion to a restaurant use. A number of 
restaurant projects have occurred in the last two decades resulting in 1 or 2 additional parking spaces 
being required. Merchant parking permits have been allowed to satisfy these parking requirements 
since approximately 1991 after the City Council established the policy. This policy was later 
incorporated into the city’s Local Coastal Program in 1994.  
 
10,000 Square Foot Site Exemption: 
The less frequent Downtown parking requirement threshold occurs when sites larger than 10,000 
square feet (approximately 6 parcels) are only allowed to exempt 5,000 square feet of floor area. 
This has the effect of encouraging smaller sites, and utilizing greater parking opportunities possessed 
by such sites. A potential example for use of this parking exemption may be the “Good Stuff” site 
located at 1300 Highland Avenue. This site (building and parking lot) is slightly over 10,000 square 
feet in area, and if developed as a single project, would only be exempt from parking for the first 
5,000 square feet of proposed building area. If it is developed as 2 separate sites, 10,000 square feet 
of floor area (e.g., 5,000 square feet per site) would be exempt from required parking. 
 
Previous Parking Studies:    
The City has conducted formal and informal studies of Downtown parking in the past. The most 
recent studies occurred in 1990 and 1998. The 1990 study determined that parking supply 
opportunities were available. Implementation of this study resulted in the creation of the 
Downtown merchant “oversubscription” program and a provision for use of merchant parking 
permits toward required parking. The code language allowing businesses to apply up to 2 
oversubscription permits toward required parking is attached. A sometimes awkward aspect of 
this language is the use of the term “business”. An incentive exists to create smaller tenant 
spaces in larger quantities on a given property to take advantage of greater parking permit 
eligibility. This may or may not be a desirable effect. 
 
The 1998 study was a component of the broader Downtown Strategic Plan. This study included a 
detailed accounting of parking supply/usage and commercial land use/demand.  Some 
fundamental statistics from that study (updated to reflect recent changes) include the following: 
 

• Existing Downtown public parking supply (excluding Metlox and Civic Center) is 911 
spaces. Existing private commercial parking supply is 478 spaces. 

• Existing Downtown commercial development (pre-Metlox) totals 352,553 square feet on 
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430,452 square feet of land area. The conventional commercial parking requirement 
(without exemptions) would be 2,070 parking spaces, which represents an average ratio 
of one space per 170 square feet based on existing commercial uses. 

• Maximum theoretical Downtown commercial build-out (excluding Metlox) parking 
exemption would equal 2,532 spaces based on the existing mix of commercial uses 
(430,452 sf/ 170). This seems to be a significant number of spaces, however, residential 
uses, large sites such as Vons Market, and other factors probably preclude the possibility 
of the entire Downtown area being built-out to a 1 to 1 floor area ratio and maximization 
of permitted parking exemptions. 

 
Parking Demand Spreadsheet: 
Since the creation of a parking demand spreadsheet for the Downtown Strategic Plan, staff has 
updated it to track changes in commercial uses and gross (not adjusted for exemptions) parking 
demand. The attached spreadsheet indicates that a large parking demand increase has not 
occurred since 1998. The 1998 gross parking requirement was 1,933 spaces, and the current 
2005 total is 2,073 spaces. This represents a 7.2% increase in gross parking demand. This 
increase is probably less than that of the same time period prior, due to less land use 
intensification (e.g., restaurant conversions) since 1998 compared to earlier years, and some 
instances of decreasing land use intensification. These calculations reflect existing occupied 
properties, and do not reflect the addition of commercial uses within the Metlox project 
anticipated to be completed in the summer of 2005. The Metlox project has not been included in 
this analysis in order to enable Staff to compare the effect of Downtown’s incremental land use 
changes over the years. 
 
CONCLUSION: 
The information discussed above summarizes how Downtown parking has evolved to the current 
time. Recent activity and applications of current parking requirements in the Downtown do not 
appear to warrant immediate action without a more comprehensive review of overall Downtown 
parking. The pending Metlox and Civic Center construction projects represent substantial land use 
and parking additions, but these projects will not be completed until December 2005. A study of 
Downtown parking supplies and demand incorporating Metlox/Civic Center effects would be 
appropriate after they have been operational for approximately one year. Staff expects that a staff 
and consultant generated study would focus on the impacts of new Metlox commercial uses and 
parking supplies upon the overall Downtown. Upon completion of such a study, the findings would 
be presented to the City Council for consideration. Therefore it is recommended that a Downtown 
parking study be initiated in December 2006. 
 
 
Attachments:  

1998 Parking Study excerpts 
Parking Code Section A.64.050/060 
Downtown Parking Demand Spreadsheet 
 
 
 

 
 












































